
Mountain Valley Library System 

Administrative Council 
May 30, 2019 

10:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. 
 

Woodland Public Library 

250 1st St, Woodland, CA 95695 

 
1. Welcome and Roll Call       Galindo, Chair 
 
2. Public Invited to Address the Committee 

 
3. Approval of Agenda (ACTION ITEM)     Galindo 

 
4. Volunteer for Minute Taking      Galindo 

 
5. Approval of Minutes of Administrative Council Meeting, Galindo Attachment 1 

 December 15, 2018 (ACTION ITEM) 
 

6. Nominations and Election of FY 2019/20 Officers  Galindo 
(ACTION ITEM) 

 
7. Review/Accept the AM‐Tran Delivery Cost   Galindo Attachment 2 

(ACTION ITEM) 
 

8. Discussion of MVLS CalPERS Revised 15-Year Amortization Brinkley Attachment 3 
Schedule and Valuation Report  

 
9. Approve Pre-Payment Option for CalPERS FY 2019/20 Galindo Attachment 4  

(ACTION ITEM) 
 

10. Approve the FY 2019/20 Budget and CalPERS Annual  Galindo Attachment 5 
Payment (ACTION ITEM) 
 

11. Preliminary Examples of Shared Funding Formulas  Brinkley Attachment 6 
 

12. Schedule Next MVLS Meeting 
 

13. Adjournment 
 

P 1



 

Brown Act: The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing in connection with 
any meeting or proceeding authorized by law. Cal. Gov't Code § 54953(b)(1). A 
"teleconference" is "a meeting of a legislative body, the members of which are in different 
locations, connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both." Cal. Gov't 
Code § 54953(b)(4). A local agency may provide the public with additional teleconference 
locations. Cal. Gov't Code § 54953(b)(4). 
The teleconferenced meeting must meet the following requirements: 

(1) it must comply with all of the Act's requirements applicable to other meetings; 
(2) all votes must be taken by roll call; 
(3) agendas must be posted at all teleconference locations and the meeting must be 
conducted in a manner that protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the 
parties or public appearing before the body; 
(4) each teleconference location must be identified in the notice and agenda and each 
location must be accessible to the public; 
(5) during the teleconferenced meeting, at least a quorum of the members of the 
legislative body must participate from locations within the boundaries of the body's 
jurisdiction; and 
(6) the agenda must provide the public with an opportunity to address the legislative 
body at each teleconference location. Cal. Gov't Code § 54953(b). 
 

Meeting Locations 
NLS Admin office, 2471 Flores Street, San Mateo, CA 94403 
Alpine County Library, 270 Laramie Street, Markleeville, CA 96120 
Colusa County Library, 738 Market Street,Colusa, CA 95932 
El Dorado County Library, 345 Fair Lane, Placerville, CA 95667 
Folsom Public Library, 411 Stafford Street, Folsom, CA 95630 
Lincoln Public Library, 485 Twelve Bridges Drive, Lincoln, CA 95648 
Mono County Free Library, 400 Sierra Park Road, Mammoth Lakes CA 93546 
Nevada County Library, 980 Helling Way, Nevada City, CA 95959 
Placer County Library, 350 Nevada Street, Auburn, CA 95603 
Roseville Public Library, 225 Taylor Street, Roseville, CA 95678 
Sacramento Co. Public Law Library, 609 9th Street, Sacramento, CA 95814 
Sacramento Public Library, 828 I Street, Sacramento, CA 95814 
Sutter County Library, 750 Forbes Aveune, Yuba City, CA 95991 
Woodland Public Library, 250 First Street, Woodland, CA 95695 
Yolo County Library, 226 Buckeye, Woodland, CA 95695 
Yuba County Library, 303 Second Street, Marysville, CA 95901 
 
Conference Call Information 
 
US: 1-877-216-1555 
Participant Code: 907394 
 

P 2



DRAFT MINUTES 

MOUNTAIN VALLEY LIBRARY SYSTEMS  

Administrative Council Meeting 

December 18, 2018 

 

 

1. MVLS Chair, Galindo, called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. 

Roll Call: 

Present Absent MEMBER LIBRARY Representative 

  x Alpine County Library Rita Lovell 

x   Colusa County Library Stacey Costello  

x   El Dorado County Library Jeanne Amos 

x   Folsom Public Library Lori Easterwood 

x   Lincoln Public Library Kathryn Hunt  

x   Mono County Free Library Christopher Platt 

x   Nevada County Library Yolande Wilburn 

x   Placer County Library Mary George  

x   Roseville Public Library Natasha Martin 

  x 
Sacramento Co. Public Law 
Lib. 

Coral Henning 

  x Sacramento Public Library Rivkah Sass 

x   Sutter County Library James Ochsner 

x   Woodland Public Library Greta Galindo 

x   Yolo County Library Mark Fink 

  x Yuba County Library Kevin Mallen  

 

2. No public in attendance. 

3. Motion to approve meeting Agenda.  Easterwood moved; Martin seconded.  Approved. 

4. Motion to approve Minutes of June 6, 2018.  Fink moved; George seconded.  Approved. 

5. Brinkley distributed revised MVLS delivery cost distribution due to CSU Sacramento dropping out of 

the delivery schedule due to lack of need.   Motion to approve revised FY 2018/19 MVLS Delivery 

Cost Distribution.  Easterwood moved; Hunt seconded.  Approved. 

6. Galindo to set date for Spring 2019 MVLS Administrative Council meeting.   This meeting may be via 

conference call and agenda will include identifying a nominating committee for MVLS Vice Chair.  

Sass will be incoming Chair.   Vote to take place at June 2019 MVLS Annual Meeting. 

7. Roundtable Discussion 

Fink discussed CalPERS and noted that the Yolo County counsel does not agree with analysis of the 

NLS contracted attorney (Best, Best & Kreiger) regarding limited liability of MVLS members.  Yolo 

County believes that there is a lack of clarity on the MVLS structure and Yolo County is taking the 

P 3

caow
Typewritten Text
Attachment 1



position that they are individually obligated and are setting aside funds should full payment be 

required at future date. 

 

George suggested MVLS develop a member fee schedule to pay annual CalPERS payments.  Fees 

could be based on years active in MVLS, etc.   

   

Fink asked to have clarity on what each MVLS member wants to do and where they stand regarding 

funding of the CalPERS debt. 

 

Easterwood recommended implementation of member fees effective as soon as possible. 

 

Martin recommended setting a date of Spring 2019 to obtain feedback from all MVLS members 

regarding their support of CalPERS funding obligation and their understanding of legal responsibility 

to pay. 

 

Hunt asked if Yolo County could provide their legal counsel’s letter that explained their opinion on 

individual library’s CalPERS obligation and if this letter could be shared with all MVLS members. 

 

George commented that she prefers to wait until a member fee structure is developed before 

presenting to her Board.   She continued that she wants to have this member fees on record for 

future Library Administrators. 

 

Group discussion of what is needed included: 

• Fee Structure – build in COLA over years 

• Legal documents and minutes of previous meetings discussing CalPERS 

• CalPERS documents 

• Anticipated date of final payment 

Galindo noted that a fee schedule will be difficult to establish due to the range of payoff amounts.   

Suggested using the 2017 CalPERS Actuarial Notice (due March 2019) to establish a fee schedule. 

Ochsner noted that use of “not obligated” in the BBK opinion document might imply that members can 

decline payment. 

Recommendation that a Committee be formed to develop an MVLS fee structure.  Brinkley and NLS staff 

will research any history of MVLS/CalPERS fee structure and past years of MVLS annual payment to 

provide to members. 

George updated status of suggested Library Director and County/City Administrator Retreat discussed at 

last MVLS meeting and its goal to illustrate to these county and city officials how libraries can help to 

move their initiatives forward.   Placer County will be holding a Regional workshop including Placer 

County, Roseville and Lincoln and will report back to MVLS with lessons learned from this workshop.  

George suggested that next steps would be to create a Strategic Plan for next three years to share. 

Fink noted that the NLS Executive Committee is interested in expanding the consortia of shared 

resources including Kanopy and Hoopla.  He mentioned that consideration needs to be made about 

P 4



Broadband and high-speed access throughout the counties and acknowledged that some rural areas 

have limited to no access.   Fink also announced that Yolo County is going “fine free” as of January 1, 

2019 for patrons under 18 years of age.   “Fine free” for all ages is being considered for the future. 

Galindo commented that she attended the Library Journal Summit and recommended for all to attend in 

the future.   

Wilburn gave an update on the status of the Truckee Town Library and noted that the final decision of 

operational options will be made by Truckee in January 2019. They may decide to focus on fund raising 

for a new library building and continue with County library services. 

Meeting adjourned at 11:50 a.m. 

P 5



FY2019/20 NorthNet Sacramento Region (Mountain Valley) Delivery Cost Distribution
Am-Tran Delivery Cost

Delivery FY19/20 Days/Wk Cost/Wk
Annual FY 
2019/20

Annual FY 
2018/19 Change

CA State Library 46.46 0 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Colusa 46.46 2 $92.92 $4,738.92 $4,643.60 $95.32
Dixon 46.46 0 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
El Dorado 46.46 1 $46.46 $2,369.46 $2,321.80 $47.66
Folsom 46.46 4 $185.84 $9,477.84 $9,287.20 $190.64
Lincoln 46.46 1 $46.46 $2,369.46 $2,321.80 $47.66
Placer 46.46 1 $46.46 $2,369.46 $2,321.80 $47.66
Roseville 46.46 1 $46.46 $2,369.46 $2,321.80 $47.66
Sacramento 46.46 5 $232.30 $11,847.30 $11,607.96 $239.34
Sutter 46.46 4 $185.84 $9,477.84 $9,287.20 $190.64
Woodland 46.46 4 $185.84 $9,477.84 $9,287.20 $190.64
Yolo * 46.46 0.25 $11.62 $592.37 $4,643.60 ($4,051.24)

Total Route Cost 557.52 23.25 $1,080.20 $55,089.95 $58,043.96 ($2,954.01)

*Yolo to have one day delivery per month

FY2019/20 NorthNet Sacramento Region (Mountain Valley) Delivery Cost Distribution
Am-Tran Delivery Cost

Delivery FY19/20 Days/Wk Cost/Wk
Annual FY 
2019/20

Annual FY 
2018/19 Change

CA State Library 46.78 0 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Colusa 46.78 2 $93.56 $4,771.56 $4,643.60 $127.96
Dixon 46.78 0 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
El Dorado 46.78 1 $46.78 $2,385.78 $2,321.80 $63.98
Folsom 46.78 4 $187.12 $9,543.12 $9,287.20 $255.92
Lincoln 46.78 1 $46.78 $2,385.78 $2,321.80 $63.98
Placer 46.78 1 $46.78 $2,385.78 $2,321.80 $63.98
Roseville 46.78 1 $46.78 $2,385.78 $2,321.80 $63.98
Sacramento 46.78 5 $233.90 $11,928.90 $11,607.96 $320.94
Sutter 46.78 4 $187.12 $9,543.12 $9,287.20 $255.92
Woodland 46.78 4 $187.12 $9,543.12 $9,287.20 $255.92

Total Route Cost 514.58 23 $1,075.94 $54,872.94 $58,043.96 $1,472.58

Quote 5/23/19, two year contract with no cost increase, with one year optional renewal not 
to exceed 3%.

Quote 5/23/19, two year contract with no cost increase, with one year optional renewal not 
to exceed 3%.  No delivery to Yolo.

P 5P 6

caow
Typewritten Text
Atttachment 2



 
To: Mountain Valley Library System 
From: Andrew Yon, PLP Controller 
Date:    March 27, 2019 
 

NorthNet Library System has been notified by CalPERS that the FY 2019/20 costs for the 3 

legacy systems will be increasing.  

At the CalPERS Finance and Administration Committee on February 13, 2018, a revised 

Unfunded Liability Amortization Policy was approved. The Memo from the meeting is attached 

(Attachment A), and includes the following: 

Set a maximum amortization period of 15 years for all unfunded accrued liability of 
Inactive Employers (no active members). This change would be effective for the June 30, 
2017 actuarial valuations. The actuary will retain the ability to further shorten the 
period on any valuation date based on the life expectancy of plan members and 
projected cash flow needs of the plan.  

 

Please note that page 4 of the Memo includes a paragraph about CalPERS’s concerns regarding 

Inactive Employers. The Board adopted all the Chief Actuary’s recommendations in an open 

meeting with notice given to the public. Attachment B is the resulting updated actuarial 

amortization policy.  Paragraph B(6) incorporates the language of the recommendation. 

We were not notified of this change until we received the Annual Valuation Report. 

CalPERS newly adopted 15-year amortization period (previously 30-year amortization) has 

resulted in an increase of from FY 2018-19. The FY 2019-20 Unfunded Liability cost is $29,876, 

as compared to $28,506.  We have been notified that a pre-payment option would result in a 

reduction of $1,028. The cost of Lump Sum Prepayment Option is $28,848.  

Attached please also find the MVLS Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2017. 

 

 

P 7

caow
Typewritten Text
Attachment 3



 

Finance and Administration Committee 

Agenda Item 7a 
 

 
February 13, 2018 

 
 
Item Name: Amortization Policy (Second Reading) 
 
Program: Actuarial Office 
 
Item Type: Action 

 
Recommendation 
Adopt the following changes to the Amortization Policy for all Public Agency, State and Schools 
actuarial valuations: 

1. Shorten the period over which actuarial gains and losses are amortized from 30 years to 
20 years. This change applies only to new gains/losses established on or after the 
effective date of the policy change (see item 5). 

2. Amortization payments for all unfunded accrued liability (UAL) bases will be computed to 
remain a level dollar amount throughout the amortization period. This change applies 
only to new UAL bases established on or after the effective date of the policy change 
(see item 5). 

3. Remove the 5-year ramp-up and ramp-down on UAL bases attributable to assumption 
changes and non-investment gains/losses established on or after the effective date of 
the policy change (see item 5). 

4. Remove the 5-year ramp-down on investment gains/losses established on or after the 
effective date of the policy change (see item 5).  

5. Approve an effective date of June 30, 2019 for policy changes 1-4 above. 
6. Set a maximum amortization period of 15 years for all unfunded accrued liability of 

Inactive Employers (no active members). This change would be effective for the June 
30, 2017 actuarial valuations. The actuary will retain the ability to further shorten the 
period on any valuation date based on the life expectancy of plan members and 
projected cash flow needs of the plan. 

 
Executive Summary 
This agenda item is the second reading of the Actuarial Office’s recommended changes to the 
Actuarial Amortization Policy. This policy has been examined in conjunction with the Asset 
Liability Management (ALM) process to study the impact of policy changes on projected funded 
status, contribution volatility, and contribution levels.  The recommended changes would shorten 
the amortization periods in some cases, modify the direct rate smoothing method and change 
the escalation rate from level percentage of payroll to level dollar amortization.  The 
recommended changes to the policy also include additional provisions for employers that no 
longer have any active members. 
 
For plans with active members, the amortization bases established prior to the effective date of 
the revised policy would continue as originally scheduled.   

P 8

frost
Text Box
Attachment A



Agenda Item 7a 

Finance and Administration 

Page 2 of 5 

 

The effective date of any adopted changes could be as early as the June 30, 2017 actuarial 
valuations.  However, given the timing of this Item, staff estimates the delivery of the June 30, 
2017 valuation reports would be delayed by about 8 weeks.  
 
Alternatively, implementation of amortization policy changes could be set to occur with the June 
30, 2018 actuarial valuations. While staff would have adequate time to incorporate any 
amortization policy changes into these reports, these policy changes could affect amortization 
payments related to the scheduled discount rate change from 7.25 percent to 7 percent. These 
future amortization payments have been previously projected by staff and considered for 
budgeting purposes by CalPERS agencies under the current policy. This could result in 
unanticipated increases to required employer contributions beginning in fiscal year 2020-21.  
 
Therefore, staff recommends implementation of policy changes 1-4 above to occur with the 
June 30, 2019 actuarial valuations. This would result in all known or expected UAL changes for 
investment gains/losses and assumption changes being amortized under the current policy. 
 
Strategic Plan 
This agenda item supports the Fund Sustainability Goal and the Reduce Complexity Goal of the 
CalPERS 2017-2022 Strategic Plan.  

Background 
In September 2017, the Actuarial Office informed members of this Committee that the 
amortization policy would be reviewed with the ALM process. The CalPERS amortization policy 
was last revised in April 2013 to replace open amortization periods with closed periods for gains 
and losses.  The policy utilizes a level percentage of payroll approach for open (active) plans and 
a level dollar approach for closed (inactive) plans.  The policy was also modified to add 5-year 
“direct rate smoothing” for certain unfunded liability bases. This change was primarily made to 
allow for gradual recognition of investment gains and losses which was formerly accomplished 
through asset smoothing.  
 
While the policy adopted in 2013 improved sustainability for the system and reduced contribution 
volatility over the prior policies, there are concerns with the current amortization policy with 
regard to negative amortization, actuarial industry guidance and intergenerational equity.  There 
are also growing concerns over the amortization of the unfunded liability for inactive employers. 
 
Analysis 
Negative amortization occurs when the payments on a debt are not sufficient to cover the interest 
accrual.  Under the current amortization policy, the combination of longer amortization periods, 
direct rate smoothing and the payment escalator contribute to the negative amortization 
experienced in the earlier years of the amortization bases.  

The current amortization policy uses a 30-year amortization period for gains and losses and a 20-
year period for assumption, method, and benefit changes other than golden handshakes.  
Golden handshakes are amortized over 5 years.  

It is strongly recommended that the amortization period for future gains and losses be reduced 
from 30 years to 25 years or lower.  The specific staff recommendation is for 20 years although 
other periods may also be acceptable. Longer amortization periods provide a lower initial annual 
contribution to that layer but greater cumulative contributions due to interest costs.  Reducing the 
amortization period for certain sources of unfunded liability would be expected to increase future 
average funding ratios, provide faster recovery of funded status following market downturns, 

P 9



Agenda Item 7a 

Finance and Administration 

Page 3 of 5 

 

decrease expected cumulative contributions and mitigate concerns over intergenerational equity. 
Reducing the amortization period may, however, increase the likelihood of year-to-year 
contribution changes that are somewhat larger than those expected under a longer period.  

Actuarial assumptions are intended to be long-term assumptions and are not likely to be exactly 
realized in any given year. The costs associated with the difference in actual experience from 
assumed experience emerges as gains or losses which impact the unfunded liability.  To control 
contribution volatility, the current amortization policy uses a form of direct rate smoothing that 
phases in costs over a 5-year period and phases them out again during the last 5 years of the 
amortization period. This is especially important with respect to investment gains and losses.  

Using this phase-in approach, the initial payment is one-fifth of the full payment, which results in 
negative amortization.  Shortening the ramp may increase contribution volatility but would 
reduce negative amortization and total contributions over the life of the amortization base.  
Removal of the down ramp at the end of the schedule does not materially impact contribution 
volatility but, in the case of a market downturn or other actuarial loss, would slightly reduce the 
ultimate amortization payment. The recommended change to the amortization policy is to 
remove the use of direct rate smoothing for all sources of unfunded liability except for 
investment gains and losses, as investment return volatility tends to be the largest contributor to 
contribution volatility.  Based on staff’s analysis, shortening the ramp did not materially reduce 
overall contributions or significantly improve the average funded status of the plans to merit the 
increase to the contribution volatility.  The recommended amortization policy does not reflect 
changes to the length of the direct rate smoothing period but does remove the down ramp at the 
end of the schedule.  
 
Required employer contributions are currently calculated with the goal of remaining level as a 
percentage of payroll, at least for active plans.  To achieve this goal, the application of the 
amortization policy produces a payment which begins with a lower initial payment that increases 
year after year by the payroll growth assumption, currently 3 percent (changing to 2.875 percent 
with the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuations).  Amortizing without an escalator, as is currently 
done for inactive plans, would reduce interest costs and eliminate negative amortization by 
requiring higher payments in the earlier years. In exchange, the payments beyond the first year 
would remain the same throughout the remainder of the amortization period, assuming no 
changes to the discount rate or amortization methods occur.  Amortizing without an escalator 
also reduces the intergenerational equity issue. 
 
Pension reform effectively closed many pooled classic public agency plans to new entrants.  
Using an assumption that payroll will grow on a plan-by-plan basis no longer produces a 
payment that will maintain a level percentage of payroll.  CalPERS also recently began billing 
public agencies for their unfunded liability as a dollar amount.  This change no longer ties the 
contribution amount to payroll for public agency employers.  State and school employers 
continue to be billed using a contribution rate.  Regardless of how unfunded liability payments 
are billed to employers, the amortization payment escalation rate can be eliminated.  
 
Several organizations have released guidance on amortization policies for public sector pension 
plans. These include the California Actuarial Advisory Panel (CAAP), the Conference of 
Consulting Actuaries (CCA), the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA), and the 
Society of Actuaries (SOA) Blue Ribbon Panel. The general recommendations for the length of 
the amortization period vary by source but indicate a period of 15 to 20 years for gains and 
losses, a period of no longer than twenty-five years for assumption changes, and a period of the 
lesser of expected future service or 15 years for benefit changes that impact active members. 

P 10



Agenda Item 7a 

Finance and Administration 

Page 4 of 5 

 

The CAAP paper also provides that the amortization policy should reflect explicit consideration 
of the level and duration of negative amortization as well as supporting policy objectives of 
accountability and transparency.   

Analysis has also been performed regarding the amortization policies employed by other major 
retirement systems in California and the United States.  Many systems have adopted shorter 
amortization periods than are employed in the current policy, especially with regard to the 30-
year period that CalPERS currently uses for gains and losses.  

The CAAP paper also considers transition policies, that is, how to handle existing amortization 
layers when amending the amortization policy. To avoid undue disruption to an employer’s 
budget, the CAAP suggests that existing layers may be allowed to continue as originally 
scheduled, and the new policy only be applied to new layers.  

Inactive Employers 
There is growing concern over the funding policy for employers that no longer have active 
members.  Currently, the amortization policy for active employers is applied to inactive plans 
with the exception that unfunded liability for inactive plans is amortized as a level dollar 
amortization rather than a level percentage of pay.  The periods used to pay down the unfunded 
liability are sometimes longer than the duration of the liability. The recommended change to the 
policy is to require a maximum 15-year level dollar amortization of the unfunded liability for 
employers with no active members in any of their pension plans and discretion for the actuary to 
reduce the period based on the demographics of the plan. 
 
 
Budget and Fiscal Impacts 
Not applicable. 
 
 
Benefits and Risks 
The adoption of the recommended changes to the policy will result in a policy that is consistent 
with industry best practice and reduces the amount of negative amortization.  Adopting the 
changes may result in somewhat higher year-to-year contribution increases due to actuarial 
losses than those that would be expected under a longer period. This may put more strain on 
employers’ budgets.  Implementing the change on a prospective basis is in line with the CAAP 
paper and will provide minimal changes to contributions in the near-term than if the current 
amortization bases were modified under the new policy. 

Not adopting any changes and keeping our existing policy in place maintains the current issues 
with negative amortization and intergenerational equity and falls outside of industry guidance.   

P 11



Agenda Item 7a 

Finance and Administration 

Page 5 of 5 

 

Attachments 
Attachment 1 - Amortization Policy Presentation (PowerPoint) 
Attachment 2 - Actuarial Amortization Policy (redline version) 
Attachment 3 - Actuarial Amortization Policy (final version) 
Attachment 4 - Estimated Change in Contributions Due to Proposed Amortization Policy  
Attachment 5 - Alternate Amortization Policies – Impact on Sample Plan (PowerPoint)  

 

_________________________________ 
Randall Dziubek 
Deputy Chief Actuary, Valuation Services 

 

________________________________ 
Scott Terando  
Chief Actuary 

________________________________ 
Charles Asubonten 
Chief Financial Officer  

 

P 12



 

Actuarial Amortization Policy Page 1 of 9 

 

Actuarial Amortization Policy 

Purpose 

The Actuarial Amortization Policy establishes the amortization methods to eliminate positive or 

negative unfunded liabilities in a manner that maintains benefit security for the members of the 

System while minimizing substantial variations in employer contribution rates. 

Contents 

Purpose 1 

Contents 1 

Background 2 

Strategic Objective 2 

Policy 2 

Policy Scope 6 

Primary Responsibility 6 

Key Terms / Definitions 6 

Roles and Responsibilities 7 

Compliance 8 

Consequences of Non-Compliance 8 

Authoritative Sources 8 

Related Documents 8 

Revision History 9 

 

  

P 13

frost
Text Box
Attachment B



 

Actuarial Amortization Policy Page 2 of 9 

Background 

This Policy uses a principled approach in the allocation of the cost of unfunded accrued 
liabilities in respect to retirement benefits - that is, to fairly allocate the costs of experience 
gains/losses, changes due to plan amendments, actuarial assumption changes, and actuarial 
methods in a manner than controls contribution volatility while promoting intergenerational 
equity. This principled approach has evolved over time between Board, stakeholders, and the 
Actuarial Office. 

Strategic Objective 

This policy establishes amortization methods that are aimed at ensuring that future 
contributions and current plan assets will be sufficient to provide for all benefits expected to be 
paid to members and their beneficiaries with the following considerations:  

• Impact on the preservation/advancement of funded status 

• Impact on the estimated volatility of the annual change in employer contribution rates 

• Impact on the estimated average employer contribution rate 

• Likelihood of high levels of employer contribution rates in any given year 

• Likelihood of large changes in employer contribution rates in any given year 

Policy 

(A) CalPERS shall use professionally accepted amortization methods to eliminate unfunded 
liabilities in a manner that maintains benefit security for the members of the System 
while minimizing substantial variations in employer contribution rates.  

(B) CalPERS shall amortize different portions of the total unfunded liability over different 
periods of time, depending upon the type of event that created the particular portion of 
the unfunded liability. For bases established on or after the effective date of this policy, 
the unfunded liability shall be amortized as a level dollar amount with the following 
specifications. 

1) Investment Gains and Losses 
The contribution amount with regard to any investment gains and losses recognized 
in that valuation shall be the annual amount determined in accordance with the 
following schedule: 

• Year 1: 20% of base payment 

• Year 2: 40% of base payment  

• Year 3: 60% of base payment  

• Year 4: 80% of base payment  

• Years 5 through 20: base payment  
 
Where the base payment shall be the contribution amount necessary for the gains 
and losses to be fully amortized over a fixed 20-year period using the above 
schedule. 

 
 

P 14



 

Actuarial Amortization Policy Page 3 of 9 

2) Non-Investment Gains and Losses 
The contribution amount with regard to any non-investment gains and losses 
recognized in that valuation shall be amortized over a period of 20 years. 

 
3) Change in Actuarial Assumptions or Actuarial Methods 
The contribution amount with regard to a change in unfunded liability due to a 
change in actuarial assumptions, or a change in actuarial methods, shall be 
amortized over a period of 20 years. 

 
4) Change in Plan Provisions 
The contribution amount with regard to a change in unfunded liability due to a 
change in plan provisions (other than a Golden Handshake) shall be the dollar 
amount required to amortize that change in unfunded liability over a period of 20 
years from the date of the actuarial valuation which first recognizes that change in 
unfunded liability. 

 
5) Golden Handshakes 
The annual contribution amount with regard to a change in unfunded liability due to 
a Golden Handshake shall be the contribution rate or dollar amount required to 
amortize that change in unfunded liability over a period of 5 years from the date of 
the actuarial valuation which first recognizes that change in unfunded liability. 

 
6) Inactive Agency 
For a public agency with no active members in any plan, the unfunded liability shall 
be amortized over a closed amortization period of no more than 15 years at the 
discretion of the Chief Actuary. 

 
7) New Contracting Agency 
Any agency contracting with CalPERS for the first time shall have the initial unfunded 
liability amortized over a period equal to the smaller of 20 years or the average 
future working lifetime of that agency's active members. 

 
8) Mathematical Inconsistencies 
In certain cases, this section provides for a Fresh Start of the amortization bases.   

(a) A Fresh Start may be used whenever application of policies as set forth in 
paragraphs (B)(1) through (B)(5) result in mathematical inconsistencies or a 
violation of the goals as stated in the strategic objectives, including, without 
limitation, the following circumstances: 
1) a negative employer contribution rate; or 

a negative employer amortization payment on a positive unfunded 
liability; or 

2) the effect of adding multiple amortization base payments results in a net 
amortization payment that completely amortizes the total unfunded 

P 15



 

Actuarial Amortization Policy Page 4 of 9 

liability/surplus in a very short time period, which results in a large 
change in the employer contribution rate; or  

3) Whenever application of the methods set forth in paragraph (B), in the 
professional judgment of the Chief Actuary, does not accomplish the 
goals as stated in paragraph (A). 

(b) The amortization period of the Fresh Start base shall be determined by 
policies established by the Chief Actuary in a manner which best meets the 
goals stated in paragraph (A).  

 
9) Plans First Joining a Risk Pool 
The amortization schedule with regard to the unfunded accrued liabilities for 

agencies joining a risk pool for the first time shall remain the same as the 

amortization schedule before joining the risk pool. If a non-pooled plan is required 

to be split into separate rate plans due to differing retirement formulae, then the 

unfunded liabilities will be allocated in an appropriate manner that meets the needs 

of the contracting agency consistent with paragraph (11). 

10)  Request up to a 30-year Extension due to Severe Financial Hardship 
The following guidelines are for evaluating requests by employers for a re-
amortization of its unfunded liability. If granted, the unfunded liability shall be 
amortized as a level dollar amount over a period not to exceed 30 years. These 
guidelines are not meant to be exclusive and additional facts or criteria may be 
examined where deemed necessary by the Chief Actuary prior to approval or denial 
of extension requests: 

a) Evidence of a need for rate relief consisting of:  
1) A statement of hardship from the employer;  
2) A statement that the employer has notified employees or employee 

groups of the request for an extension of the employer’s amortization 
period; and  

3) A statement that the employer is aware of the potential for a reduction in 
benefits in the event that the employer terminates the plan without 
providing continuation of funding that would be adequate to fully fund 
the liabilities upon termination. 

b) Evidence that the extension will, in fact provide rate relief – that is if the 
current net amortization period is already nearly 30 years, then extending to 
30 years will not produce measurable rate relief and is unwarranted. 

c) Evidence that the reductions in the employer rate will produce no long-term 
harm to the employer’s plan, including: 
1) A review of the plan’s future cash flows to ensure that benefit payments 

and refunds are not jeopardized in any way; 
2) A review of future funded status of the plan; 
3) A review of the plan’s funded status on a termination basis i.e. in the 

event that the employer terminates the plan (as current State law allows) 

P 16



 

Actuarial Amortization Policy Page 5 of 9 

to determine if the plan’s assets will be sufficient in the future to cover all 
plan termination liabilities without any reduction in benefits.  If the plan’s 
assets will not be sufficient, other factors will be considered on a case by 
case basis based on the specific facts and circumstances of each request, 
including without limitation, the likelihood of the employer terminating 
its contract, the employer’s ability to provide continuation of funding at 
termination, whether annual contributions continue to and are projected 
to continue to exceed benefits paid to retirees and beneficiaries, and/or 
whether the rate relief would have a material impact on the plan’s 
funded status.  

d) A request for extension will be approved only if the Chief Actuary determines 
that approval would not constitute a breach of the Board’s fiduciary duties or 
violate applicable tax laws. 

e) If it is known that employer contributions are expected to increase in the 
next few years, the Chief Actuary will ascertain how the agency plans to 
provide for such anticipated future rate increases. 

f) Any request for an extension shall be submitted to CalPERS on or before May 
31st prior to the beginning of the fiscal year for which the employer 
contribution rate would be recalculated, and CalPERS shall grant or deny the 
request no later than June 30 prior to the beginning of the fiscal year for 
which the employer contribution rate would be recalculated. 

g) Additional facts or criteria may be examined where deemed necessary by the 
Chief Actuary. 

h)   Annually, the Chief Actuary will report to the Board actions taken pursuant to 
these guidelines. 

 

11)  Flexibility to Address Funding Needs 
In the event that a public agency requests to change any amortization bases to 
achieve fiscal necessities staff may fresh start existing bases, shorten existing 
individual bases, and/or combine/split existing bases to achieve the public agencies 
goals. However, in no event shall any change in amortization under this section 
result in a deferral of funding. 

 
12)  Funding Stability 
When an agency is faced with significant increases or decreases in amortization 
payments and it is desired to smooth out the funding volatility, the Chief Actuary 
may rebalance amortization payments as long as it does not result in a deferral of 
funding. 
 
13)  Surplus Plans 
If an actuarial surplus exists (i.e. the Market Value of Assets exceeds the plan’s 
accrued liability) any prior amortization layers shall be considered fully amortized, 
and the surplus shall not be amortized. 

P 17



 

Actuarial Amortization Policy Page 6 of 9 

 
In the event of any subsequent unfunded liability a Fresh Start shall be used with an 
amortization period of 20 years or less in accordance with policies established by the 
Chief Actuary in a manner which best meets the goals stated in paragraph (A). The 
schedule described in paragraph (B)(2) may be used. 
 
14)  Small Amounts 
Where small unfunded liabilities are identified in annual valuations which result in 
small payment amounts, the actuary may shorten these bases to achieve a payment 
that is proportional to the size of liabilities of the plan. 
 
15)  Funding Risk Mitigation 
In the event of a risk mitigation event as outlined in the Funding Risk Mitigation 
Policy, investment gains due to that event will be amortized to offset the impact of 
the discount rate change. 

Policy Scope 

Not Applicable  

Primary Responsibility 

Not Applicable  

Key Terms / Definitions 

For the purposes of this document, the following terms and definitions apply. 

Key Term Definition 

Fresh Start Combining multiple amortization 
bases into a single base 

  

P 18



 

Actuarial Amortization Policy Page 7 of 9 

Roles and Responsibilities 

CalPERS Chief Actuary shall:  

• Review the appropriateness of the actuarial amortization methods from time to time or 
at any time for each of the benefit programs (including the affiliate programs) and make 
recommendations to the Board as appropriate. 

• Direct and oversee the ongoing and effective implementation and maintenance of this 
policy. 

 
All CalPERS actuaries shall comply with this policy in the execution of their duties.  

P 19



 

Actuarial Amortization Policy Page 8 of 9 

Compliance 

All methodologies contained in this policy are subject to the auditing procedures of the CalPERS 
Office of Audit Services. 

Consequences of Non-Compliance 

Not Applicable 

Authoritative Sources 

CalPERS will administer this policy in compliance with the following legal, regulatory, and policy 

requirements: 

Source Description 

Cal. Gov’t Code §20812 Establishes authority and criteria for 
adoption of amortization extensions 

Cal. Gov’t Code §7522.52 Effectively prohibits amortization of 
surplus 

Related Documents 

For additional information, please refer to:  

Document Relevance 

Funding Risk Mitigation Policy The Funding Risk Mitigation Policy 
seeks to reduce CalPERS funding risk 
over time by lowering the discount 
rate when the CalPERS actual 
investment performance 
significantly outperforms the 
assumed discount rate. 

  

P 20



 

Actuarial Amortization Policy Page 9 of 9 

Revision History 

The following revisions have been made to this policy:  

Version Modification Date Summary of Changes 

1.0 4/20/2016 Combined and reformatted existing 
resolutions;  

This policy supersedes:  

• ACT-96-05E (Rev.) Amortization 
and Smoothing Policy 
Resolution dated 5/21/14 

• 05-02-AESD (Rev.) Smoothing 
Employer Contribution Rates 
dated 5/21/14 

• 30 Year Amortization Extension 
Policy Guidelines (Rev 9-2010) 

• Funding Stability Directive 
effective 1/1/2015 

2.0 2/14/2018 for the 
6/30/2019 funding 
valuations 

• Shortened amortization period 
for gains and losses to 20 years 

• Limited direct rate smoothing to 
the first five years for 
investment gains and losses 

• Established that the unfunded 
liability for inactive agencies be 
amortized over a closed period. 

• Eliminated amortization of 
surplus 

 

 

P 21



 

 
California Public Employees’ Retirement System 
Actuarial Office 
P.O. Box 942709 
Sacramento, CA  94229-2709 
TTY: (916) 795-3240  
(888) 225-7377 phone – (916) 795-2744 fax 
www.calpers.ca.gov 
 

 

 

 

August 2018 
 

 
 

Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
(CalPERS ID: 1035483646) 
Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2017 
 
Dear Employer, 
 
As an attachment to this letter, you will find a copy of the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation report of the pension 
plan. 
 

Because this plan is in a risk pool, the following valuation report has been separated into two sections: 
 

• Section 1 contains specific information for the plan including the development of the current and projected 
employer contributions, and 

• Section 2 contains the Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation appropriate to the plan as of June 30, 2017. 
 
Section 2 can be found on the CalPERS website at (www.calpers.ca.gov). From the home page, go to “Forms & 
Publications” and select “View All”. In the search box, enter “Risk Pool” and from the results list download the 
Miscellaneous or Safety Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation Report as appropriate. 
 
Your June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation report contains important actuarial information about your pension plan at 
CalPERS. Your assigned CalPERS staff actuary, whose signature appears in the Actuarial Certification section on page 
1, is available to discuss the report with you after August 1, 2018. 
 
The exhibit below displays the minimum employer contributions, before any cost sharing, for Fiscal Year 2019-20 
along with estimates of the required contributions for Fiscal Year 2020-21. Member contributions other than cost 

sharing (whether paid by the employer or the employee) are in addition to the results shown below. The employer 
contributions in this report do not reflect any cost sharing arrangements you may have with your 
employees. 
 
 

Required Contribution 
 

Fiscal Year 
Employer Normal 

Cost Rate 
 

Employer Payment of 
Unfunded Liability 

2019-20 0.000%  $29,876 
    

Projected Results    

2020-21 0.0%  $33,000  
 
The actual investment return for Fiscal Year 2017-18 was not known at the time this report was prepared. The 
projections above assume the investment return for that year would be 7.25 percent. If the actual investment 
return for Fiscal Year 2017-18 differs from 7.25 percent, the actual contribution requirements for the 
projected years will differ from those shown above.  
 
Moreover, the projected results for Fiscal Year 2020-21 assume that there are no future plan changes, no further 
changes in assumptions other than those recently approved, and no liability gains or losses. Such changes can have a 
significant impact on required contributions. Since they cannot be predicted in advance, the projected employer 
results shown above are estimates. The actual required employer contributions for Fiscal Year 2020-21 will be 
provided in next year’s report.  
 
For additional details regarding the assumptions and methods used for these projections please refer to the 
“Projected Employer Contributions” in the “Highlights and Executive Summary” section.    
 
The “Risk Analysis” section of the valuation report also contains estimated employer contributions in future years 
under a variety of investment return scenarios. 

P 22



Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
(CalPERS ID: 1035483646) 
Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2017 
Page 2 

 

 
 
Changes since the Prior Year’s Valuation 
 
At its December 2016 meeting, the CalPERS Board of Administration lowered the discount rate from 7.50 percent to 
7.00 percent using a three-year phase-in beginning with the June 30, 2016 actuarial valuations. The minimum 
employer contributions for Fiscal Year 2019-20 determined in this valuation were calculated using a discount rate of 
7.25 percent. The projected employer contributions on Page 5 are calculated under the assumption that the discount 
rate will be lowered to 7.00 percent next year as adopted by the Board.  
 
On December 19, 2017, the CalPERS Board of Administration adopted new actuarial assumptions based on the 
recommendations in the December 2017 CalPERS Experience Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions. This study 
reviewed the retirement rates, termination rates, mortality rates, rates of salary increases and inflation assumption 
for Public Agencies. These new assumptions are incorporated in your actuarial valuations and will impact the required 
contribution for FY 2019-20. In addition, the Board adopted a new asset portfolio as part of its Asset Liability 
Management. The new asset mix supports a 7.00 percent discount rate. The reduction of the inflation assumption 

will be implemented in two steps in conjunction with the decreases in the discount rate. For the June 30, 2017 
valuation an inflation rate of 2.625 percent was used and a rate of 2.50 percent will be used in the following 
valuation. 
 
The CalPERS Board of Administration has adopted a new amortization policy effective with the June 30, 2019 
actuarial valuation. The new policy shortens the period over which actuarial gains and losses are amortized from 30 
years to 20 years with the payments computed using a level dollar amount. In addition, the new policy removes the 
5-year ramp-up and ramp-down on UAL bases attributable to assumption changes and non-investment gains/losses. 
The new policy removes the 5-year ramp-down on investment gains/losses. These changes will apply only to new 
UAL bases established on or after June 30, 2019. 
 
For inactive employers the new amortization policy imposes a maximum amortization period of 15 years for all 
unfunded accrued liabilities effective June 30, 2017. Furthermore, the plan actuary has the ability to shorten the 
amortization period on any valuation date based on the life expectancy of plan members and projected cash flow 
needs to the plan. The impact of this has been reflected in the current valuation results. 
 
The CalPERS Board of Administration adopted a Risk Mitigation Policy which is designed to reduce funding risk over 
time. This Policy has been temporarily suspended during the period over which the discount rate is being lowered. 
More details on the Risk Mitigation Policy can be found on our website. 
 
Besides the above noted changes, there may also be changes specific to the plan such as contract amendments and 
funding changes. 
 
Further descriptions of general changes are included in the “Highlights and Executive Summary” section and in 
Appendix A, “Statement of Actuarial Data, Methods and Assumptions” of the Section 2 report.  
 
We understand that you might have a number of questions about these results. While we are very interested in 
discussing these results with your agency, in the interest of allowing us to give every public agency their results, we 
ask that you wait until after August 1 to contact us with actuarial related questions. 
 
If you have other questions, please call our customer contact center at (888) CalPERS or (888-225-7377). 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 

SCOTT TERANDO 
Chief Actuary

P 23



 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Actuarial Valuation 
as of June 30, 2017 

 
for the 

 Miscellaneous Plan 
of the 

Mountain-Valley Library System 
(CalPERS ID: 1035483646) 

 
Required Contributions 

for Fiscal Year 
July 1, 2019 - June 30, 2020

P 24



 
 

 

Table of Contents 

 
Section 1 – Plan Specific Information 

 

Section 2 – Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation Information

P 25



 
 

 

 

Section 1 

C A L I F O R N I A  P U B L I C  E M P L O Y E E S ’  R E T I R E M E N T  S Y S T E M  

 
 

 
Plan Specific Information  

for the 
Miscellaneous Plan 

 of the 
Mountain-Valley Library System 

 
(CalPERS ID: 1035483646) 

(Rate Plan: 1693)

P 26



 
 

 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 
 
Actuarial Certification                      1 
 

Highlights and Executive Summary 

Introduction 3 
Purpose of Section 1 3 
Required Employer Contributions 4 
Plan’s Funded Status 5 
Projected Employer Contributions 5 
Changes Since the Prior Year’s Valuation 6 
Subsequent Events 6 

 
 

Assets and Liabilities 

Breakdown of Entry Age Normal Accrued Liability 8 
Allocation of Plan’s Share of Pool’s Experience/Assumption Change 8 
Development of Plan’s Share of Pool’s MVA 8 
Schedule of Plan’s Amortization Bases 9 
Amortization Schedule and Alternatives 10 
Employer Contribution History 12 
Funding History 12 

 
 

Risk Analysis 

Analysis of Future Investment Return Scenarios 14 
Analysis of Discount Rate Sensitivity 15 
Volatility Ratios 16 
Hypothetical Termination Liability 17 

 
 

Participant Data                 18 
 
List of Class 1 Benefit Provisions               18 
 
Plan’s Major Benefit Options                20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(CY) FIN PROCESS CONTROL ID: 524321 (PY) FIN PROCESS CONTROL ID: 504289 REPORT ID: 114989 

P 27



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 1 
 
 

 

Actuarial Certification 
 
Section 1 of this report is based on the member and financial data contained in our records as of June 30, 2017 
which was provided by your agency and the benefit provisions under your contract with CalPERS. Section 2 of 
this report is based on the member and financial data as of June 30, 2017 provided by employers participating 
in the Miscellaneous Risk Pool to which the plan belongs and benefit provisions under the CalPERS contracts for 
those agencies. 
 
As set forth in Section 2 of this report, the pool actuaries have certified that, in their opinion, the valuation of 
the risk pool containing your Miscellaneous Plan has been performed in accordance with generally accepted 
actuarial principles consistent with standards of practice prescribed by the Actuarial Standards Board, and that 
the assumptions and methods are internally consistent and reasonable for the risk pool as of the date of this 
valuation and as prescribed by the CalPERS Board of Administration according to provisions set forth in the 
California Public Employees’ Retirement Law. 
 
Having relied upon the information set forth in Section 2 of this report and based on the census and benefit 
provision information for the plan, it is my opinion as the plan actuary that Unfunded Accrued Liability 
amortization bases as of June 30, 2017 and employer contribution as of July 1, 2019, have been properly and 
accurately determined in accordance with the principles and standards stated above. 
 
The undersigned is an actuary for CalPERS, a member of both the American Academy of Actuaries and Society 
of Actuaries and meets the Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the 
actuarial opinion contained herein. 
 
 

 
 
MAY SHUANG YU, ASA, MAAA 
Senior Pension Actuary, CalPERS 
Plan Actuary 

 
 

  

 

P 28



 

 
 

 
 

Highlights and Executive Summary 
 
 

• Introduction 

 

• Purpose of Section 1 

 

• Required Employer Contributions 

 

• Plan’s Funded Status 

 

• Projected Employer Contributions 

 

• Changes Since the Prior Year’s Valuation 

 

• Subsequent Events

P 29



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 3  
 
 

 

Introduction 
 
This report presents the results of the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation of the Miscellaneous Plan of the 
Mountain-Valley Library System of the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). This 
actuarial valuation sets the required employer contributions for Fiscal Year 2019-20. 
 
 

Purpose of Section 1 
 
This Section 1 report for the Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System of the California Public 
Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) was prepared by the plan actuary in order to: 
 
• Set forth the assets and accrued liabilities of this plan as of June 30, 2017; 
• Determine the minimum required employer contribution for this plan for the fiscal year July 1, 2019 

through June 30, 2020; and 

• Provide actuarial information as of June 30, 2017 to the CalPERS Board of Administration and other 
interested parties. 
 

The pension funding information presented in this report should not be used in financial reports subject to 
GASB Statement No. 68 for a Cost Sharing Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan. A separate accounting 
valuation report for such purposes is available from CalPERS and details for ordering are available on our 
website. 
 
The measurements shown in this actuarial valuation may not be applicable for other purposes. The employer 
should contact their actuary before disseminating any portion of this report for any reason that is not explicitly 
described above. 
 
Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements presented in this 
report due to such factors as the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated by the economic or 
demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; changes in actuarial policies; 
and changes in plan provisions or applicable law. 

 
California Actuarial Advisory Panel Recommendations 
 
This report includes all the basic disclosure elements as described in the Model Disclosure Elements for 
Actuarial Valuation Reports recommended in 2011 by the California Actuarial Advisory Panel (CAAP), with the 
exception of including the original base amounts of the various components of the unfunded liability in the 
Schedule of Amortization Bases shown on page 9. 
 
Additionally, this report includes the following “Enhanced Risk Disclosures” also recommended by the CAAP in 
the Model Disclosure Elements document: 
 

• A “Deterministic Stress Test,” projecting future results under different investment income scenarios 
• A “Sensitivity Analysis,” showing the impact on current valuation results using alternative discount 

rates of 6.0 percent, 7.0 percent and 8.0 percent. 

P 30



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 4  
 
 

 

Required Employer Contributions 
 

    Fiscal Year 

Required Employer Contributions  
 

 2019-20 

Employer Normal Cost Rate    0.000% 

  Plus, Either     

1) Monthly Employer Dollar UAL Payment   $ 2,489.66 

   Or     

2) Annual Lump Sum Prepayment Option   $ 28,848 

The total minimum required employer contribution is the sum of the Plan’s Employer Normal Cost Rate 
(expressed as a percentage of payroll) plus the Employer Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) Contribution 
Amount (billed monthly in dollars). 
 

Only the UAL portion of the employer contribution can be prepaid (which must be received in full no 
later than July 31). Plan Normal Cost contributions will be made as part of the payroll reporting process. 
If there is contractual cost sharing or other change, this amount will change.  
 

In accordance with Sections 20537 and 20572 of the Public Employees’ Retirement Law, if a contracting 
agency fails to remit the required contributions when due, interest and penalties may apply. 

 
 Fiscal Year Fiscal Year 

  2018-19  2019-20 

Development of Normal Cost as a Percentage of Payroll1     

Base Total Normal Cost for Formula  0.000%  0.000% 

Surcharge for Class 1 Benefits2     

    None  0.000%  0.000% 

Phase out of Normal Cost Difference3  0.000%  0.000% 

Plan’s Total Normal Cost  0.000%  0.000% 

Formula's Expected Employee Contribution Rate  0.000%  0.000% 

Employer Normal Cost Rate  0.000%  0.000% 
     

Projected Payroll for the Contribution Fiscal Year $ 0 $ 0 
     

Estimated Employer Contributions Based on Projected Payroll   

Plan’s Estimated Employer Normal Cost $ 0 $ 0 

Plan’s Payment on Amortization Bases4  28,506  29,876 

% of Projected Payroll (illustrative only)  0.000%  0.000% 
     

Estimated Total Employer Contribution $ 28,506 $ 29,876 

% of Projected Payroll (illustrative only)  0.000%  0.000% 
 

1 The results shown for Fiscal Year 2018-19 reflect the prior year valuation and may not take into account any lump sum 
payment, side fund payoff, or rate adjustment made after June 30, 2017. 
 

2 Section 2 of this report contains a list of Class 1 benefits and corresponding surcharges for each benefit. 
 

3 The normal cost difference is phased out over a five-year period. The phase out of normal cost difference is 100 percent 
for the first year of pooling, and is incrementally reduced by 20 percent of the original normal cost difference for each 
subsequent year.  This is non-zero only for plans that joined a pool within the past 5 years.  Most plans joined a pool 
June 30, 2003, when risk pooling was implemented. 
 

4 See page 9 for a breakdown of the Amortization Bases. 

P 31



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 5  
 
 

 

Plan’s Funded Status 
 

June 30, 2016 June 30, 2017 

1. Present Value of Projected Benefits (PVB) $ 935,937 $ 1,013,685 

2. Entry Age Normal Accrued Liability (AL)  935,937  1,013,685 

3. Plan’s Market Value of Assets (MVA)  645,445  724,852 

4. Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) [(2) - (3)]  290,492  288,833 

5. Funded Ratio [(3) / (2)]  69.0%  71.5% 
 
This measure of funded status is an assessment of the need for future employer contributions based on the 
selected actuarial cost method used to fund the plan. The UAL is the present value of future employer 
contributions for service that has already been earned and is in addition to future normal cost contributions for 
active members. For a measure of funded status that is appropriate for assessing the sufficiency of plan assets 
to cover estimated termination liabilities, please see “Hypothetical Termination Liability” in the “Risk Analysis” 
section. 
 
 

Projected Employer Contributions 
 
The table below shows projected employer contributions (before cost sharing) for the next six fiscal years. 
Projected results reflect the adopted changes to the discount rate described in Appendix A, “Statement of 
Actuarial Data, Methods and Assumptions” of the Section 2 report. The projections also assume that all 
actuarial assumptions will be realized and that no further changes to assumptions, contributions, benefits, or 
funding will occur during the projection period. 
 

 
Required 

Contribution 
Projected Future Employer Contributions 

(Assumes 7.25% Return for Fiscal Year 2017-18) 

Fiscal Year 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 

Normal Cost % 0.000% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

UAL Payment $29,876 $33,000 $33,000 $33,000 $33,000 $33,000 

 
Changes in the UAL due to actuarial gains or losses as well as changes in actuarial assumptions or methods 
are amortized using a 5-year ramp up. For more information, please see “Amortization of the Unfunded 
Actuarial Accrued Liability” under “Actuarial Methods” in Appendix A of Section 2. This method phases in the 
impact of unanticipated changes in UAL over a 5-year period and attempts to minimize employer cost volatility 
from year to year. As a result of this methodology, dramatic changes in the required employer contributions in 
any one year are less likely. However, required contributions can change gradually and significantly over the 
next five years. In years where there is a large increase in UAL the relatively small amortization payments 
during the ramp up period could result in a funded ratio that is projected to decrease initially while the 
contribution impact of the increase in the UAL is phased in. 
 
Due to the adopted changes in the discount rate for next year’s valuation in combination with the 5-year 
phase-in ramp, the increases in the required contributions are expected to continue for six years from Fiscal 
Year 2019-20 through Fiscal Year 2024-25. 
 
For projected contributions under alternate investment return scenarios, please see the “Analysis of Future 
Investment Return Scenarios” in the “Risk Analysis” section. 

P 32



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 6  
 
 

 

Changes since the Prior Year’s Valuation 
 
Benefits 
 

None. This valuation generally reflects plan changes by amendments effective before the date of the report. 
Please refer to the “Plan’s Major Benefit Options” and Appendix B of Section 2 for a summary of the plan 
provisions used in this valuation.  
 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
 

At its December 2016 meeting, the CalPERS Board of Administration lowered the discount rate from 7.50 
percent to 7.00 percent using a three-year phase-in beginning with the June 30, 2016 actuarial valuations. 
The minimum employer contributions for Fiscal Year 2019-20 determined in this valuation were calculated 
using a discount rate of 7.25 percent. The projected employer contributions on page 5 are calculated 
assuming that the discount rate will be lowered to 7.00 percent next year as adopted by the Board. The 
decision to reduce the discount rate was primarily based on reduced capital market assumptions provided by 
external investment consultants and CalPERS investment staff. The specific decision adopted by the Board 
reflected recommendations from CalPERS staff and additional input from employer and employee stakeholder 
groups. Based on the investment allocation adopted by the Board and capital market assumptions, the 
reduced discount rate assumption provides a more realistic assumption for the long-term investment return of 
the fund.  
 

On December 19, 2017, the CalPERS Board of Administration adopted new actuarial assumptions based on the 
recommendations in the December 2017 CalPERS Experience Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions. This 
study reviewed the retirement rates, termination rates, mortality rates, rates of salary increases and inflation 
assumption for Public Agencies. These new assumptions are incorporated in this actuarial valuation and will 
impact the required contribution for FY 2019-20. In addition, the Board adopted a new asset portfolio as part 
of its Asset Liability Management. The new asset mix supports a 7.00 percent discount rate. The reduction of 
the inflation assumption will be implemented in two steps in conjunction with the decreases in the discount 
rate. For the June 30, 2017 valuation an inflation rate of 2.625 percent will be used and a rate of 2.50 percent 
in the following valuation. 
 

Notwithstanding the Board’s decision to phase into a 7.0 percent discount rate, subsequent analysis of the 
expected investment return of CalPERS assets or changes to the investment allocation may result in a change 
to this three-year discount rate schedule. 
 

Subsequent Events 

 
The CalPERS Board of Administration has adopted a new amortization policy effective with the June 30, 2019 
actuarial valuation. The new policy shortens the period over which actuarial gains and losses are amortized 
from 30 years to 20 years with the payments computed using a level dollar amount. In addition, the new 
policy removes the 5-year ramp-up and ramp-down on UAL bases attributable to assumption changes and 
non-investment gains/losses. The new policy removes the 5-year ramp-down on investment gains/losses. 
These changes will apply only to new UAL bases established on or after June 30, 2019. 
 
For inactive employers the new amortization policy imposes a maximum amortization period of 15 years for all 
unfunded accrued liabilities effective June 30, 2017. Furthermore, the plan actuary has the ability to shorten 
the amortization period on any valuation date based on the life expectancy of plan members and projected 

cash flow needs to the plan. The impact of this has been reflected in the current valuation results. 
 
The contribution requirements determined in this actuarial valuation report are based on demographic and 
financial information as of June 30, 2017. Changes in the value of assets subsequent to that date are not 
reflected. Investment returns below the assumed rate of return will increase the retired contribution, while 
investment returns above the assumed rate of return will decrease the retired contribution. 
 
This actuarial valuation report reflects statutory changes, regulatory changes and CalPERS Board actions 
through January 2018. Any subsequent changes or actions are not reflected. 

P 33



 

 
 
 

 
 

Assets and Liabilities 
 

 

• Breakdown of Entry Age Normal Accrued Liability 

 

• Allocation of Plan’s Share of Pool’s Experience/Assumption Change 

 

• Development of Plan’s Share of Pool’s MVA 

 

• Schedule of Plan’s Amortization Bases 

 

• Amortization Schedule and Alternatives 

 

• Employer Contribution History 

 

• Funding History

P 34



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 8 
 
 

 

Breakdown of Entry Age Normal Accrued Liability 

 
 Active Members $ 0 

 Transferred Members   0 

 Terminated Members  0 

 Members and Beneficiaries Receiving Payments  1,013,685 
 Total $ 1,013,685 

 
 

Allocation of Plan’s Share of Pool’s 

Experience/Assumption Change 
 
It is the policy of CalPERS to ensure equity within the risk pools by allocating the pool’s experience 

gains/losses and assumption changes in a manner that treats each employer equitably and maintains benefit 
security for the members of the System while minimizing substantial variations in employer contributions. The 
Pool’s experience gains/losses and impact of assumption/method changes is allocated to the plan as follows: 
 
1. Plan’s Accrued Liability $ 1,013,685 

2. Projected UAL balance at 6/30/17   298,492 

3. Pool’s Accrued Liability1 $ 15,780,998,593 

4. Sum of Pool’s Individual Plan UAL Balances at 6/30/171  3,912,002,885 
5. Pool’s 2016/17 Investment & Asset (Gain)/Loss  (413,206,167) 

6. Pool’s 2016/17 Other (Gain)/Loss  (21,126,605) 

7. Plan’s Share of Pool’s Asset (Gain)/Loss [(1) - (2)] / [(3) - (4)] * (5)  (24,899) 

8. Plan’s Share of Pool’s Other (Gain)/Loss [(1)] / [(3)] * (6)  (1,357) 

9. Plan’s New (Gain)/Loss as of 6/30/2017 [(7) + (8)] $ (26,256) 

10. Increase in Pool’s Accrued Liability due to Change in Assumptions1  258,379,047 

11. Plan’s Share of Pool’s Change in Assumptions [(1)] / [(3)] * (10) $ 16,597 
 
1 Does not include plans that transferred to Pool on the valuation date. 

 

 
 

Development of the Plan’s Share of Pool’s Market 

Value of Assets 
 
12.  Plan’s UAL [(2) + (9) + (11)] $ 288,833 

13. Plan’s Share of Pool’s MVA [(1) - (12)] $ 724,852 

 

P 35



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool                    Page 9 
 
 

 

Schedule of Plan’s Amortization Bases 

 

There is a two-year lag between the valuation date and the start of the contribution fiscal year. 
 

• The assets, liabilities, and funded status of the plan are measured as of the valuation date: June 30, 2017. 
• The employer contribution determined by the valuation is for the fiscal year beginning two years after the valuation date: Fiscal Year 2019-20. 
 

This two-year lag is necessary due to the amount of time needed to extract and test the membership and financial data, and the need to provide public agencies 
with their employer contribution well in advance of the start of the fiscal year. 
 

The Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) is used to determine the employer contribution and therefore must be rolled forward two years from the valuation date to the 

first day of the fiscal year for which the contribution is being determined. The UAL is rolled forward each year by subtracting the payment on the UAL for the fiscal 
year and adjusting for interest. Additional discretionary payments are reflected in the Expected Payments column in the fiscal year they were made by the agency. 
 

        Amounts for Fiscal 2019-20 

Reason for Base 
Date 

Established 

Ramp 
Up/Down 
2019-20 

Amortization 
Period 

Balance 
6/30/17 

Payment 
2017-18 

Balance 
6/30/18 

Payment 
2018-19 

Balance 
6/30/19 

Scheduled 
Payment  

for 2019-20 

FRESH START 06/30/17 No Ramp 15 $288,833 $22,786 $286,176 $28,506 $277,402 $29,876 

TOTAL    $288,833 $22,786 $286,176 $28,506 $277,402 $29,876 
 

The (gain)/loss bases are the plan’s allocated share of the risk pool’s (gain)/loss for the fiscal year as disclosed on the previous page. These (gain)/loss bases will be 
amortized according to Board policy over 30 years with a 5-year ramp-up. 
 

If the total Unfunded Liability is negative (i.e., plan has a surplus), the scheduled payment is $0, because the minimum required contribution under PEPRA must be 
at least equal to the normal cost. 

P 36



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool  Page 10 
 
 

 

Amortization Schedule and Alternatives 

 
The amortization schedule on the previous page shows the minimum contributions required according to 
CalPERS amortization policy. There has been considerable interest from many agencies in paying off these 
unfunded accrued liabilities sooner and the possible savings in doing so. As a result, we have provided 
alternate amortization schedules to help analyze the current amortization schedule and illustrate the 
advantages of accelerating unfunded liability payments.    
 
Shown on the following page are future year amortization payments based on: 1) the current amortization 
schedule reflecting the individual bases and remaining periods shown on the previous page, and 2) alternate 
“fresh start” amortization schedules using two sample periods that would both result in interest savings 
relative to the current amortization schedule. Note that the payments under each alternate scenario increase 
by 2.875 percent for each year into the future. The schedules do not attempt to reflect any experience 
after June 30, 2017 that may deviate from the actuarial assumptions. Therefore, future 
amortization payments displayed in the Current Amortization Schedule may not match projected 
amortization payments shown in connection with Projected Employer Contributions provided 

elsewhere in this report. 
 
The Current Amortization Schedule typically contains individual bases that are both positive and negative.  
Positive bases result from plan changes, assumption changes or plan experience that result in increases to 
unfunded liability. Negative bases result from plan changes, assumption changes or plan experience that result 
in decreases to unfunded liability. The combination of positive and negative bases within an amortization 
schedule can result in unusual or problematic circumstances in future years such as: 
 

• A positive total unfunded liability with a negative total payment,      
• A negative total unfunded liability with a positive total payment, or       
• Total payments that completely amortize the unfunded liability over a very short period of time 

 
In any year where one of the above scenarios occurs, the actuary will consider corrective action such as 
replacing the existing unfunded liability bases with a single “fresh start” base and amortizing it over a 
reasonable period. 
 

The Current Amortization Schedule on the following page may appear to show that, based on the current 
amortization bases, one of the above scenarios will occur at some point in the future. It is impossible to know 
today whether such a scenario will in fact arise since there will be additional bases added to the amortization 
schedule in each future year. Should such a scenario arise in any future year, the actuary will take appropriate 
action based on guidelines in the CalPERS amortization policy. 

P 37



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool      Page 11 
 
 

 

Amortization Schedule and Alternatives 

 

 

* This schedule does not reflect the impact of adopted discount rate changes that will become effective beyond June 30, 
2017. For Projected Employer Contributions, please see page 5.  

  Alternate Schedules 

 
Current Amortization  

Schedule 
10 Year Amortization 5 Year Amortization 

Date Balance Payment Balance Payment Balance Payment 

6/30/2019 277,403 29,876 277,403 38,579 277,403 65,767 

6/30/2020 266,574 29,876 257,561 38,579 229,405 65,767 

6/30/2021 254,961 29,876 236,280 38,579 177,927 65,767 

6/30/2022 242,505 29,876 213,457 38,579 122,718 65,767 

6/30/2023 229,147 29,876 188,979 38,579 63,505 65,767 

6/30/2024 214,820 29,876 162,727 38,579   

6/30/2025 199,455 29,876 134,571 38,579   

6/30/2026 182,975 29,876 104,374 38,579   

6/30/2027 165,301 29,876 71,987 38,579   

6/30/2028 146,345 29,876 37,253 38,579   

6/30/2029 126,015 29,876     

6/30/2030 104,212 29,876     

6/30/2031 80,827 29,876     

6/30/2032 55,747 29,876     

6/30/2033 28,848 29,876     

6/30/2034       

6/30/2035       

6/30/2036       

6/30/2037       

6/30/2038       

6/30/2039       

6/30/2040       

6/30/2041       

6/30/2042       

6/30/2043       

6/30/2044       

6/30/2045       

6/30/2046       

6/30/2047       

6/30/2048       

       

Totals  448,139  385,795  328,835 

Interest Paid 170,737  108,392  51,433 

Estimated Savings   62,344  119,304 

P 38



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646  

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 12 
 
       
 

 

 

Employer Contribution History 
 
The table below provides a recent history of the required employer contributions for the plan, as determined by 
the annual actuarial valuation. It does not account for prepayments or benefit changes made during a fiscal 
year. 
 

 

Fiscal 
Year 

Employer 
Normal Cost 

Unfunded Liability 
Payment ($) 

2016 - 17 0.000% $12,955 

2017 - 18 0.000% $22,786 

2018 - 19 0.000% $28,506 

2019 - 20 0.000% $29,876 

 
 

 

Funding History 
 
The funding history below shows the plan’s actuarial accrued liability, share of the pool’s market value of 
assets, share of the pool’s unfunded liability, funded ratio, and annual covered payroll. 
 

 
 

Valuation 
Date 

 
 
 

Accrued 
Liability 

(AL)  

Share of Pool’s 
Market Value of 

Assets (MVA)  

Plan’s Share of 
Pool’s Unfunded 

Liability 

 
Funded 
Ratio 

 
 
 

Annual  
Covered 
Payroll 

06/30/2011 $ 828,560 $ 669,930 $ 158,630 80.9% $ 0 

06/30/2012  859,372  637,854  221,518 74.2%  0 

06/30/2013  870,617  667,622  202,995 76.7%  0 

06/30/2014  929,526  740,105  189,421 79.6%  0 

06/30/2015  945,521  715,042  230,479 75.6%  0 

06/30/2016  935,937  645,445  290,492 69.0%  0 

06/30/2017  1,013,685  724,852  288,833 71.5%  0 

 

P 39



 

 

 
 

Risk Analysis 

 
• Analysis of Future Investment Return Scenarios 

 

• Analysis of Discount Rate Sensitivity 

 

• Volatility Ratios 

 

• Hypothetical Termination Liability

P 40



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 14 
 
 

 

Analysis of Future Investment Return Scenarios 
 

Analysis was performed to determine the effects of various future investment returns on required employer 
contributions. The projections below provide a range of results based on five investment return scenarios 
assumed to occur during the next four fiscal years (2017-18, 2018-19, 2019-20 and 2020-21). The projections 
also assume that all other actuarial assumptions will be realized and that no further changes to assumptions, 
contributions, benefits, or funding will occur. 
 
Each of the five investment return scenarios assumes a return of 7.25 percent for fiscal year 2017-18. For 
fiscal years 2018-19, 2019-20, and 2020-21 each scenario assumes an alternate fixed annual return. The fixed 
return assumptions for the five scenarios are 1.0 percent, 4.0 percent, 7.0 percent, 9.0 percent and 12.0 
percent. 
 
The alternate investment returns were chosen based on stochastic analysis of possible future investment 
returns over the four-year period ending June 30, 2021. Using the expected returns and volatility of the asset 
classes in which the funds are invested, we produced five thousand stochastic outcomes for this period based 

on the recently completed Asset Liability Management process. We then selected annual returns that 
approximate the 5th, 25th, 50th, 75th, and 95th percentiles for these outcomes. For example, of all the 4-year 
outcomes generated in the stochastic analysis, approximately 25 percent of them had an average annual 
return of 4.0 percent or less. 
 
Required contributions outside of this range are also possible. In particular, whereas it is unlikely that 
investment returns will average less than 1.0 percent or greater than 12.0 percent over this four-year period, 
the possibility of a single investment return less than 1.0 percent or greater than 12.0 percent in any given 
year is much greater. 
 

Assumed Annual Return From 
2018-19 through 2020-21 

Projected Employer Contributions 

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 

1.0%     

    Normal Cost 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

    UAL Contribution $33,000 $38,000 $44,000 $50,000 

4.0%         

    Normal Cost 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

    UAL Contribution $33,000 $35,000 $38,000 $41,000 

7.0%         

    Normal Cost 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

    UAL Contribution $33,000 $33,000 $33,000 $33,000 

9.0%         

    Normal Cost 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

    UAL Contribution $33,000 $32,000 $30,000 $29,000 

12.0%         

    Normal Cost 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

    UAL Contribution $33,000 $29,000 $24,000 $19,000 

 
Given the temporary suspension of the Risk Mitigation Policy during the period over which the discount rate 

assumption is being phased down to 7.0 percent, the projections above were performed without reflection of 
any possible impact of this Policy for Fiscal Year 2020-21. In addition, the projections above do not reflect the 
recent changes to the new amortization policy effective with the June 30, 2019 valuation but the impact on 
the results above is expected to be minimal. 

P 41



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 15 
 
 

 

Analysis of Discount Rate Sensitivity 
 

Shown below are various valuation results as of June 30, 2017 assuming alternate discount rates. Results are 
shown using the current discount rate of 7.25 percent as well as alternate discount rates of 6.0 percent, 7.0 
percent, and 8.0 percent. The alternate rate of 7.0 percent was selected since the Board has adopted this rate 
as the final discount rate at the end of the three-year phase-in of the reduction in this assumption. The rates 
of 6.0 percent and 8.0 percent were selected since they illustrate the impact of a 1 percent increase or 
decrease to the 7.0 percent assumption. This analysis shows the potential plan impacts if the PERF were to 
realize investment returns of 6.0 percent, 7.0 percent, or 8.0 percent over the long-term. 
 
This type of analysis gives the reader a sense of the long-term risk to required contributions. For a measure of 
funded status that is appropriate for assessing the sufficiency of plan assets to cover estimated termination 
liabilities, please see “Hypothetical Termination Liability” at the end of this section. 
 

Sensitivity Analysis 

As of June 30, 2017 
Plan’s Total 
Normal Cost 

Accrued 
Liability 

Unfunded 
Accrued Liability 

Funded 
Status 

7.25% (current discount rate) 0.000% $1,013,685 $288,833 71.5% 

6.0% 0.000% $1,147,015 $422,163 63.2% 

7.0% 0.000% $1,038,030 $313,178 69.8% 

8.0% 0.000% $946,037 $221,185 76.6% 

 

P 42



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 16 
 
 

 

Volatility Ratios 
 
Actuarial calculations are based on a number of assumptions about long-term demographic and economic 
behavior. Unless these assumptions (terminations, deaths, disabilities, retirements, salary growth, and 
investment return) are exactly realized each year, there will be differences on a year-to-year basis. The year-
to-year differences between actual experience and the assumptions are called actuarial gains and losses and 
serve to lower or raise required employer contributions from one year to the next. Therefore, employer 
contributions will inevitably fluctuate, especially due to the ups and downs of investment returns. 
 
Asset Volatility Ratio (AVR) 
 
Plans that have higher asset-to-payroll ratios experience more volatile employer contributions (as a 
percentage of payroll) due to investment return. For example, a plan with an asset-to-payroll ratio of 8 may 
experience twice the contribution volatility due to investment return volatility, than a plan with an asset-to-
payroll ratio of 4. Shown below is the asset volatility ratio, a measure of the plan’s current contribution 
volatility. It should be noted that this ratio is a measure of the current situation. It increases over time but 

generally tends to stabilize as the plan matures. 
 
Liability Volatility Ratio (LVR) 
 
Plans that have higher liability-to-payroll ratios experience more volatile employer contributions (as a 
percentage of payroll) due to investment return and changes in liability. For example, a plan with a liability-to-
payroll ratio of 8 is expected to have twice the contribution volatility of a plan with a liability-to-payroll ratio of 
4. The liability volatility ratio is also shown in the table below. It should be noted that this ratio indicates a 
longer-term potential for contribution volatility. The asset volatility ratio, described above, will tend to move 
closer to the liability volatility ratio as the plan matures. Since the liability volatility ratio is a long-term 
measure, it is shown below at the current discount rate (7.25 percent) as well as the discount rate the Board 
has adopted to determine the contribution requirement in the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation (7.00 
percent). 
 
 

Rate Volatility As of June 30, 2017 

  
1. Market Value of Assets $ 724,852 

2. Payroll  0 

3. Asset Volatility Ratio (AVR) [(1) / (2)]  N/A 

4. Accrued Liability $ 1,013,685 

5. Liability Volatility Ratio (LVR) [(4) / (2)]  N/A 

6. Accrued Liability (7.00% discount rate)  1,038,030 

7. Projected Liability Volatility Ratio [(6) / (2)]  N/A 

 

P 43



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 17 
 
 

 

Hypothetical Termination Liability 
 
The hypothetical termination liability is an estimate of the financial position of the plan had the contract with 
CalPERS been terminated as of June 30, 2017. The plan liability on a termination basis is calculated differently 
compared to the plan’s ongoing funding liability. For the hypothetical termination liability calculation, both 
compensation and service are frozen as of the valuation date and no future pay increases or service accruals 
are assumed. This measure of funded status is not appropriate for assessing the need for future employer 
contributions in the case of an ongoing plan, that is, for an employer that continues to provide CalPERS 
retirement benefits to active employees. 
 
A more conservative investment policy and asset allocation strategy was adopted by the CalPERS Board for 
the Terminated Agency Pool. The Terminated Agency Pool has limited funding sources since no future 
employer contributions will be made. Therefore, expected benefit payments are secured by risk-free assets 
and benefit security for members is increased while funding risk is limited. However, this asset allocation has a 
lower expected rate of return than the PERF and consequently, a lower discount rate is assumed. The lower 
discount rate for the Terminated Agency Pool results in higher liabilities for terminated plans. 

 
The effective termination discount rate will depend on actual market rates of return for risk-free securities on 
the date of termination. As market discount rates are variable, the table below shows a range for the 
hypothetical termination liability based on the lowest and highest interest rates observed during an 
approximate 2-year period centered around the valuation date. 
 

 
 

Market 
Value of  

Assets (MVA) 

Hypothetical 
Termination 
   Liability1,2 

 @ 1.75% 

Funded  
Status 

Unfunded 
Termination 

Liability 
@ 1.75% 

Hypothetical 
Termination 

    Liability1,2 
 @ 3.00% 

Funded 
Status 

Unfunded 
Termination 

Liability 
@ 3.00% 

$724,852 $1,839,696 39.4% $1,114,844 $1,708,343 42.4% $983,491 

  
 
1 The hypothetical liabilities calculated above include a 5 percent mortality contingency load in accordance with Board policy. 

Other actuarial assumptions can be found in Appendix A. 
 

2 The current discount rate assumption used for termination valuations is a weighted average of the 10-year and 30-year 
U.S. Treasury yields where the weights are based on matching asset and liability durations as of the termination date. The 
discount rates used in the table are based on 20-year Treasury bonds, rounded to the nearest quarter percentage point, 
which is a good proxy for most plans. The 20-year Treasury yield was 2.61 percent on June 30, 2017, and was 2.83 
percent on January 31, 2018. 

 
In order to terminate the plan, you must first contact our Retirement Services Contract Unit to initiate a 
Resolution of Intent to terminate. The completed Resolution will allow the plan actuary to give you a 
preliminary termination valuation with a more up-to-date estimate of the plan liabilities. CalPERS advises you 
to consult with the plan actuary before beginning this process. 

P 44



CALPERS ACTUARIAL VALUATION - June 30, 2017 
Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 
CalPERS ID: 1035483646 

 

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool Page 18 
 
 

 

Participant Data 
 
The table below shows a summary of your plan’s member data upon which this valuation is based:   
 

 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2017 

Reported Payroll $ 0 $ 0 

Projected Payroll for Contribution Purposes $ 0 $ 0 

     

Number of Members     

     Active   0  0 

     Transferred  1  0 

     Separated  0  0 

     Retired  5  6 

 

 

List of Class 1 Benefit Provisions 

This plan has the additional Class 1 Benefit Provisions: 
 

• None 

P 45



  

 

 

Plan’s Major Benefit Options

P 46



  

 

 
SECTION 1 – Plan Specific Information for the Miscellaneous Plan of the Mountain-Valley Library System 

Plan’s Major Benefit Options 
Shown below is a summary of the major optional benefits for which your agency has contracted. A description of principal standard and optional plan provisions 
is in Appendix B within Section 2 of this report. 

 

 Contract package 

{sum_of_major_ben_1} 
Receiving 

Misc 
      

Benefit Provision        
        

Benefit Formula        
Social Security Coverage        
Full/Modified        

        
Employee Contribution Rate        
        
Final Average Compensation Period        
        
Sick Leave Credit        
        
Non-Industrial Disability        
        
Industrial Disability        
        
Pre-Retirement Death Benefits        

Optional Settlement 2        
1959 Survivor Benefit Level        
Special         
Alternate (firefighters) No       

        
Post-Retirement Death Benefits        

Lump Sum $500       
Survivor Allowance (PRSA) No       

        
COLA 2%       
        

        
        
        

        

        

Rate Plan belonging to the Miscellaneous Risk Pool   Page 20 
    

P 47



  

 

 

Section 2 

 

C A L I F O R N I A  P U B L I C  E M P L O Y E E S ’  R E T I R E M E N T  S Y S T E M  

 
 
 

Section 2 may be found on the CalPERS website 

(www.calpers.ca.gov) in the Forms and  

Publications section 

P 48



 
To:    Mountain Valley Library System 
From:    Andrew Yon, PLP Controller 
Subject:  Consideration of CalPERS FY 2019/20 Pre-Payment Option 
Date:       May 30, 2019 
 

Each year the Mountain Valley Library System (MVLS) pays CalPERS its unfunded liability.  In the 

past, this has been done on a monthly basis.  

CalPERS’ newly adopted 15-year amortization period (previously 30-year amortization) has 

resulted in an increase from FY 2018/19. The FY 2019/20 Unfunded Liability cost is $29,876, as 

compared to $28,506.   

We have been notified that a pre-payment option is available, which would result in a reduction 

of $1,028. The cost of Lump Sum Prepayment Option is $28,848. This payment must be made in 

July. 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that MVLS approve paying the lump sum of $28,848 for FY 2019/20 using 

MVLS Funds Balance.   

 

 

P 49

caow
Typewritten Text
Attachment 4



Mountain Valley Library System  (922)

Adopted Proposed
FY 18/19 FY 19/20 Note

GL Acct Revenue

3000 Fund Balance $26,506 $24,863 MVLS Fund Balance
3510 Interest Income 2,000                 4,335       

TOTAL REVENUE $28,506 $29,198 2.43%

Expenditure
4105 Retiree Benefits 28,506               CalPERS UAL
4448 Reimbursable-Retiree Benefits 29,198     CalPERS UAL ($28,848); GASB Report ($350)

TOTAL EXPENDITURE $28,506 $29,198 2.43%

Fund Balance as of 6/30/18 152,227$          

FY18/19 Expenditure (24,606)$           

Fund Balance as of 6/30/19 127,621$          Estimated

Note: CalPERS cost reflects the $28,848 for pre-payment

P 50

caow
Typewritten Text
Attachment 5



 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

To:  Mountain Valley Library System 
From:  Andrew Yon, PLP Controller 
Subject:  MVLS Fund Balance and Suggestion for Shared Funding Formula 
Date:     May 30, 2019 
 

In past years, MVLS has used its fund balance to pay for its annual CalPERS Unfunded Accrued Liability 

(UAL) obligations. In FY 2018/19, those budgeted costs were $28,506 for CalPERS UAL and $350 for 

GASB 68 Reporting Services. At that time, it was projected that the FY 2019/20 CalPERS Costs would be 

$29,000.  

The recent changes by CalPERS to accelerate the Unfunded Liability amortization schedule from 30 years 

to 15 years, results in an increase of 5% from FY 2018-19 Unfunded Liability cost of $28,506. The FY 2019-

20 Unfunded Liability cost is $29,876, and GASB 68 Reporting Services is $350.  

FUND BALANCE 

The estimated ending MVLS fund balance as of June 30, 2019 is $127,621, with the total cost of all FY 

2018/19 CalPERS Unfunded Accrued Liability and being accounted for.  

 
 
FY 2018/19 Ending Balance     $127,621 
FY 2019/20 Interest Income         $4,335 
FY 2019/20 Estimated Unfunded Liability   ($30,226) 
FY 2019/20 Estimated Ending Balance    $101,730 
 

Based on MVLS Unfunded Accrued Liability obligations projection, MVLS libraries will need to commence 

contribution to the CalPERS Unfunded Liability by FY 2023/24, as depletion of MVLS Fund Balance is 

anticipated. MVLS will need to establish a shared cost formula for the ongoing CalPERS obligations.  

Formulas for NSCLS and NBCLS 

All three legacy systems within NorthNet have CalPERS obligations. North State Cooperative Library 

System established a formula several years ago, and recently modified it. They have established a tired 

model using the budget size, which assigns a base-rate value to each library depending upon their 

budget size. Then the funds are distributed accordingly.  North Bay Cooperative Library System has just 

begun exploring options for a cost share model and has not yet agreed upon one at this time.  

The following are proposed Cost Share Formulas that are based on Library’s Certified Population and 

Budget Expenditure Size. However, the MVLS library members may develop their own formula(s) to 

allocate CalPERS obligations amongst themselves based on other methodologies. 

P 51

caow
Typewritten Text
Attachment 6



 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

 
Establishing a Cost Share Formula Based on Library Budget Size 

 

 

 

 

  

P 52



 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

 

Establishing a Cost Share Formula Based on California State Library Certified Population Size 

 

  

P 53



 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

 

Establishing a Cost Share Formula Based on Both Population and Library Budget Size 

It is possible to take both data points, population and budget, to develop a model. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Although Mountain Valley Library System hasn’t elected to be subject to JPA law and may not be subject 

to AB1912 passage, it is recommended that MVLS consider the proposed a cost share formula for its 

members or develop an agreeable cost share formula amongst MVLS members for the foreseeable 

CalPERS obligations. 

 

 

 

P 54


	MVLS AC Agenda 053019.pdf
	Attachment 1 DRAFT Meeting Minutes 12.15.2018
	Attachment 2 AM Tran FY19-20 NLS Libraries Share of Delivery Cost
	Attachment 3 MVLS FY1920 CalPERS Retirees Cost Changes rev.052219_
	Attachment A.pdf
	Item Name: Amortization Policy (Second Reading)
	Program: Actuarial Office
	Item Type: Action
	Recommendation
	Adopt the following changes to the Amortization Policy for all Public Agency, State and Schools actuarial valuations:
	Executive Summary
	Strategic Plan
	This agenda item supports the Fund Sustainability Goal and the Reduce Complexity Goal of the CalPERS 2017-2022 Strategic Plan.
	Background
	In September 2017, the Actuarial Office informed members of this Committee that the amortization policy would be reviewed with the ALM process. The CalPERS amortization policy was last revised in April 2013 to replace open amortization periods with cl...
	While the policy adopted in 2013 improved sustainability for the system and reduced contribution volatility over the prior policies, there are concerns with the current amortization policy with regard to negative amortization, actuarial industry guida...
	Analysis
	Negative amortization occurs when the payments on a debt are not sufficient to cover the interest accrual.  Under the current amortization policy, the combination of longer amortization periods, direct rate smoothing and the payment escalator contribu...
	The current amortization policy uses a 30-year amortization period for gains and losses and a 20-year period for assumption, method, and benefit changes other than golden handshakes.  Golden handshakes are amortized over 5 years.
	It is strongly recommended that the amortization period for future gains and losses be reduced from 30 years to 25 years or lower.  The specific staff recommendation is for 20 years although other periods may also be acceptable. Longer amortization pe...
	Budget and Fiscal Impacts
	Not applicable.
	Benefits and Risks
	The adoption of the recommended changes to the policy will result in a policy that is consistent with industry best practice and reduces the amount of negative amortization.  Adopting the changes may result in somewhat higher year-to-year contribution...
	Not adopting any changes and keeping our existing policy in place maintains the current issues with negative amortization and intergenerational equity and falls outside of industry guidance.
	Attachments
	Randall Dziubek
	Deputy Chief Actuary, Valuation Services
	Scott Terando
	Chief Actuary
	Charles Asubonten
	Chief Financial Officer


	Attachment 4 MVLS FY1920 CalPERS Prepayment
	Attachment 5 MVLS Budget FY 201920
	Attachment 6 MVLS FY1920 Fund Balance and New Proposed Formulas rev 052419



